
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton

Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Wednesday, 9 May 2018

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to the Annual Meeting of the District 
Council which will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 17th May 2018 in the Anglia Room, 
The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
17 May 2018

Page(s)
herewith

1. CHAIRMAN 
a) To elect the Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year.

b) The newly elected Chairman to sign the required Declaration of 
Acceptance of Office.

2. VICE-CHAIRMAN 
a) To elect the Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year.

b) The newly elected Vice-Chairman to sign the required Declaration of 
Acceptance of Office.

3. VOTE OF THANKS TO THE OUTGOING CHAIRMAN 

4. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

5. MINUTES 6 - 13
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2018.

6. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

7. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 14 - 15

8. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

9. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

10. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

11. CABINET MINUTES 16 - 20
Unconfirmed minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 1 May 2018.

12. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 21 - 25
Unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 19 April 2018.



Council
17 May 2018

Page(s)
herewith

13. PLANNING COMMITTEE 26 - 33
Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 9 April 2018.

14. COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 34 - 36
Unconfirmed minutes of the Committee of the Licensing Authority meeting held 
on 28 March 2018.

15. LICENSING COMMITTEE 37 - 40
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 28 March 
2018.

16. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES AND OTHER REPRESENTATIVES AND 
CHAIRMEN AND VICE CHAIRMEN 2018-2019 

41 - 46

Report of the Executive Director, Strategy & Governance and Monitoring Officer.

17. ANNUAL REPORT AND APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2018/19 47 - 62
Report of the Executive Director, Strategy & Governance and Monitoring Officer.

18. APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON - STANDARDS 
ARRANGEMENTS 

63 - 66

Report of the Executive Director, Strategy & Governance and Monitoring Officer.

19. HR POLICY HANDBOOK ADDITIONS -CAREER BREAK 67 - 74
Report of the Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation.

20. CONSTITUTION VARIATIONS 75 - 77
Report of the Executive Director, Strategy & Governance and Monitoring Officer.

21. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

22. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



Council
17 May 2018

Page(s)
herewith

23. SNETTERTON POWER SCHEME - GRANT APPROVALS 78 - 103
Report of the Executive Member for Growth & Commercialisation.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 12 April 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr S. Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs T. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank (Chairman)
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr M. Taylor
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
43/18APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ashby, Carter, Gould, P. 
Hewett, T. Monument, Nairn, Newton, Oliver, Sherwood and Turner.

44/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 February 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman; subject to, the word ‘business’ being removed 
from the penultimate paragraph under Minute No. 27/18.

45/18DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None declared.

46/18CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman highlighted a number of events that she had attended since the last 
Full Council meeting which she had thoroughly enjoyed and those that had to be 
cancelled due to the inclement weather conditions.  She also mentioned and 
promoted her forthcoming civic service being held on Sunday, 29 April 2018 at St 

6

Agenda Item 5



Council
12 April 2018

2

Action By
Nicholas Church in Dereham, followed by refreshments at the Dereham Memorial 
Hall.  Members were asked to contact her secretary, Alex Elliott, to confirm their 
attendance if they had not done so already.

She also promoted a forthcoming event on 28 August 2018 in Downham Market 
which was a dragon boat race and suggested that Councillors should be involved.  
The Leader felt that a team made up of Officers would be a better option.

47/18LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Chairman invited the Leader to make his announcements.

The Leader was pleased to announce that the first of the Cabinet ‘roadshows’ had 
been a great success.  The meeting had been held in Swaffham and had attracted 
a great deal of public interest and he hoped that this would continue.  The next 
roadshow on 12 June 2018 would be held in Attleborough.  

Members were encouraged to have a photograph taken after the meeting in 
support of the ‘Dual It A47’ Campaign.

More than 100 shops from the district’s five market towns had joined an initiative 
which allowed people to browse and buy online from local stores. The first official 
launch of the ‘ShopAppy’ scheme was being held in Swaffham, the following day, 
on Friday 13 April 2018 at 11am. The Leader encouraged as many Members as 
possible to attend.

Another initiative to encourage businesses to locate to the District was the offer of 
80% business rate relief.

The Leader read aloud a statement in relation to travellers in Thetford.  Breckland 
Council was currently working with Police and other partners.

Councillor Jermy welcomed the ‘ShopAppy’ initiative because for every pound 
spent, 63p remained in the local economy.  However, following a Freedom of 
Information request, he had found that a number of purchases made by Breckland 
Council were from national on-line providers.  He asked if he could have more 
details on Breckland’s procurement process.  

The Leader said that he would be disappointed if Breckland Council was spending 
significant sums with on-line providers and he tasked the Chief Executive to look 
into this matter.

Councillor Clarke welcomed the Leader’s Cabinet roadshow initiative and felt that 
this was a step in the right direction. He suggested that the next budget setting 
meeting should be held in the evening to enable more people to attend.  In 
response the Leader pointed out that Cabinet on the road had been the Deputy 
Leader’s idea rather than his own.

AG

48/18QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

49/18QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 7) 

Councillor Crawford directed his question to Councillor Mark Robinson, the 

7



Council
12 April 2018

3

Action By
Portfolio Holder for Governance.  He was disappointed that the proposed boundary 
changes for Thetford had not been supported at the recent Community 
Governance Review (CGR) meeting. Councillor Robinson advised that the meeting 
had been held at the end of March and had been widely publicised and, whilst it 
had been acknowledged that Thetford was very passionate about this issue, only 
one Thetford Member had attended.  In his opinion, it had been a fair process and 
he invited Members to view the Minutes.

Councillor Jermy mentioned the instruction of the Police & Crime Commissioners 
which he believed was brought in to bring about accountability and transparency to 
the decision making process and the management of the Police Force.  However, 
he was aware that the Norfolk Police Crime Commissioner, Lorne Green, had 
taken to blocking anyone on social media that disagreed with his view points and 
deleting any negative comments that he received on Facebook. He asked 
Councillor Paul Claussen, the Portfolio Holder for Place, if he shared these 
concerns that this approach to accountability and engagement displayed by the 
Police Commissioner was unacceptable.  Councillor Claussen was not quite sure 
what, if anything, he was able to do about this other than to pass on these 
concerns.  The Leader added that there had been incidences where the Council’s 
own website had received negative comments on the Facebook page against 
certain matters/issues.  These were not removed as people were entitled to make 
comments, good or bad.  He disagreed with the Police & Crime Commissioner if he 
was deleting such unfavourable comments. 

Councillor Clarke asked the Deputy Leader a question about the gender pay gap.  
At the February Council meeting it had been noted that the gender pay gap was 
around 22% and according to the data on the BBC website the average female 
employed by Breckland Council was paid 31.3% less than the average male 
employee.  He mentioned the figures that he had found relating to other Councils in 
the area which had proved that Breckland was at the top of the league table.  The 
Labour run Council in Norwich was reported to have no gender pay gap issues at 
all. He asked the Cabinet Member to confirm that he was aware of this issue and 
what actions, if any, had been implemented since the last meeting to address this 
apparent large disparity. 

The Deputy Leader thanked Councillor Clarke for his question and the points that 
had been raised; however, the composition of the workforce across all authorities 
was very varied and this had been one of the points that he had flagged up at the 
Full Council meeting in February.  There was an action plan in place and he hoped 
that next year when the report came forward that the points that had been raised 
would be taken into account.  Councillor Clarke was asked to put his specific 
questions, comments and concerns in an email so that the Deputy Leader could 
respond accordingly. 

As a supplementary question, Councillor Clarke asked that as this information was 
already in the public domain, it would be helpful if the Council could include some 
information on the Breckland website once a position paper had been produced. 
The Deputy Leader advised that a significant reason for the disparity was due to 
the services that were contracted out compared to other authorities.  Councillor 
Taylor pointed out that as an ex member of the military all were paid the same and 
were awarded increments for the amount of time served.  In response, Members 
were informed that this was about two different issues; regardless of gender, staff 
received equal pay for equal work.  The gender pay gap referred to the Council’s 
makeup of its workforce - for example the Council’s waste provider that was 
currently outsourced was more male dominated than female dominated and for 
comparison, the Contact Centre, was more female dominated.

8



Council
12 April 2018

4

Action By
Councillor Borrett had noted the interesting comments made by Councillor Clarke 
in relation to the gender pay gap and asked the Deputy Leader if he agreed with 
the report that he had seen in the Financial Times highlighting the fact that the 
Unions had a large disparity in the pay gap.  In response, the Deputy Leader stated 
that this just proved that everyone had to get their house in order and that 
Breckland Council already had an action plan in place.

Councillor Brame directed his question to Councillor Mark Robinson, the Portfolio 
Holder for Governance.  He had been asked by several members of his Ward to 
put forward this question.  The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee 
had met and had decided that it would be premature to discuss the boundary issue 
in Thetford until after the people had moved into the houses so that they could then 
be consulted. He had been reminded of a particular housing estate in Thetford that 
had been part of another boundary review where the boundaries had moved prior 
to the residents moving in.  This particular housing estate now came under 
Thetford rather than Kilverstone and/or Croxton and he asked how many people 
would have to put forward a petition or ask the question about it being changed 
back to Thetford as this change had been decided prior to purchasing their 
properties. Councillor Robinson knew the areas that were being discussed, and 
reminded Members that this had been a settlement boundary change, not a parish 
boundary change, so would not result in a community governance review.  He also 
reminded the Council that the CGR sub-group did not have the remit to make a 
final decision; it had made a recommendation to go forward to the second stage, a 
consultation, which would commence from Monday, 16 April 2018 to Friday, 22 
June 2018.  The process was still on-going and the final recommendation would be 
brought to a future Full Council meeting.  

Councillor Taylor mentioned the rubbish lying around in the woods at the back of 
the BP garage on the A11 and wanted to know when this would be removed.  The 
Leader pointed out that he was confident that this would soon be resolved.

50/18CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

i. Breckland Community Funding Applications (Minute No. 32/18(a))

Cllr Brindle thanked the Cabinet Members for the large match funding 
application for the Charles Burrell Museum.  He was delighted with the 
support.

ii. Adoption

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
20 March 2018 be adopted.

51/18OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

i. Attendance

Councillor Hollis had attended the O&SC meeting but had been omitted 
from those present. 

ii. HR Policy Handbook Updates (Minute No. 25/18)

Councillor Monument raised concerns about some of the wording within the 
report and asked that prior to this Policy being published use of the words 
‘officers’ and ‘employees’ needed to be consistent and the correct 

9



Council
12 April 2018

5

Action By
terminology used in the correct context. 

iii. Adoption

RESOLVED that, subject to the addition of Councillor Hollis to the record of 
those present, the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission meeting held on 8 March 2018 be adopted.

52/18PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

(a) Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 12 February 2018.  

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 12 February 2018 be adopted.

(b) Unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 12 March 2018  

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 
held on 12 March 2018 be adopted.

53/18GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

1. Quarter 3 2017-18 Risk Report (Minute No. 8/18)

The word ‘not’ be added to the 5th paragraph to read: “…Members were 
assured that the loss for this year could be significant but would ‘not’ be for 
2019/20…..”

2. Updated Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and Prudential Indicators 
2018-19 (Minute No. 12/18)

RESOLVED that:

a) the Treasury Management Strategy 2018-19 to 2021-22 at Appendix 
A of the report be approved;

b) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement contained within 
Appendix A of the report which sets out the Council’s Policy on MRP 
be approved;

c) the Prudential Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A 
(tables 1-9) of the report be approved;

d) the Investment Strategy 2018-19 at Appendix B of the report and the 
detailed criteria included in Appendix B1 of the report be approved; 
and

e) the Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2 of the report be 
approved.

3. RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance & Audit 
Committee meeting held on 16 February 2018 be adopted.

54/18MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PANEL (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Member Development Panel meeting held on 

10



Council
12 April 2018

6

Action By
13 March 2018 be noted.

55/18RELEASE OF NEW BURDENS FUND - HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 
(AGENDA ITEM 13) 

Councillor Bambridge, the Portfolio Holder for Growth presented the report which 
sought Members’ agreement to accept and release funds to the value of £182,281.

Councillor Jermy felt that any money from Government was encouraging; however, 
although he entirely appreciated that this was a Government definition, he had 
concerns with calling it a ‘new burden’ fund as this, in his opinion, implied that 
homeless people were a burden.  He drew Members’ attention to paragraph 1.4 of 
the report and was pleased that the time period for a person or household to be at 
risk of homelessness had been extended to 56 days.  However, he was concerned 
by paragraph 1.5 of the report where it highlighted the fact that the additional duties 
and responsibilities placed on the Council, would demonstrate a 33% increase in 
current demand and he asked the Portfolio Holder if he felt that the staff would be 
able to cope with this increase.   

Councillor Bambridge assured Members that the Council, in this respect, was 
coping well.  Rob Walker, the Executive Director of Place advised that all local 
authorities were in the same position but time would tell if any resourcing 
improvements were required.  The Leader also made it clear that the Council did 
not view those who were unfortunate enough to be homeless as a burden.

RESOLVED that 

1) the funds be released to the value of £182,281 as a new ‘burdens’ fund in 
respect of the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, be 
accepted; and

2) the Executive Director for Place, in consultation with the Executive Member 
for Growth be granted delegated authority to commit and agree spend of 
the above monies in accordance with the conditions of the new ‘burdens’ 
fund.

56/18LAND RELEASE FUND GRANT ACCEPTANCE (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Portfolio Holder for Growth & Commercialisation, Councillor Adrian Stasiak 
presented the report.

It was noted that the Chief Executive had already taken the urgent decision to 
accept the offer of a grant of £300,000 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
& Local Government (MHCG) Land Release Fund.  The reason for the urgency 
had been that the MHCG had offered this grant on 8 March 2018 which had to be 
accepted by 14 March 2018. The Leader had been consulted.

The Portfolio Holder for Growth & Commercialisation was pleased that the 
Government had supported Breckland Council on its bid for funding.

This funding would allow the Council to bring forward surplus land for housing on 
smaller schemes that would otherwise not be developed.  This £300,000 would 
allow capital works to be undertaken to overcome site constraints and enable 
access to council-owned land at Shipdham which could lead to the development of 
housing (subject to planning).

11



Council
12 April 2018

7

Action By
RESOLVED that:

1. the urgent decision taken to accept a grant of £300,000 from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government be noted; and

2. the grant of £300,000 be added to the Capital Programme/Revenue Budget 
for the associated spend.

57/18HR POLICY HANDBOOK ADDITIONS (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report that related to new policies being added to the 
HR Policy Handbook.  He extended his thanks to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission for their comments on the Stuck not Sick Policy and the Alcohol, 
Drugs and Substance Misuse Policy.

The Stuck not Sick Policy gave employees access to two emergency days in the 
leave year, where, subject to a genuine reason, staff were able to take a leave of 
absence without prior agreement but with the authorisation of their line manager.  

The latter Policy addressed the principles by which the Council would like 
employees to operate by when addressing alcohol, drugs and substances.  The 
Council would seek to take a supportive stance where possible but had 
acknowledged the fact that this could not always be the case when the safety of 
others was at risk.

RESOLVED that the following Policies be approved:

1. Stuck not Sick Policy; and
2. Alcohol, Drugs and Substance Misuse Policy.

58/18NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

RESOLVED that:

1. the following Outside Body organisations be removed:
a) Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group;
b) Norfolk LGA Health Sub-Group
c) Thetford Tourism Heritage Partnership Steering Group;

2. Councillor Adrian Stasiak be appointed as the Council’s representative on 
the Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan Committee (new Outside Body 
organisation);

3. Councillor Trevor Carter be replaced by Councillor Lynda Turner on the 
Health & Wellbeing Board.

59/18AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

None.

60/18ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
(AGENDA ITEM 18) 

None.

12



Council
12 April 2018

8

Action By
61/18EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 19) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it contains the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1,2, 3, and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

62/18CAPITA BUSINESS PLAN (AGENDA ITEM 20) 

The Portfolio Holder for Growth presented the Capita Business Plan.

Stephen Ottewell, the National Director of Planning & Building Control for Capita 
(Local Government) and Alex Chrusciak, the Director of Planning & Building 
Control for Capita (Breckland) were in attendance and provided Members with a 
detailed overview of the Annual Business Plan 2018/19.

The purpose of the Annual Business Plan was to provide the overall strategy of 
how the partnership supported the key strategic goals of the Council.  It also 
provided details on the service delivery priorities for the forthcoming year and a 
summary of achievement in the preceding year. 

Members’ attention was drawn to section 2.2 of the report that highlighted the key 
changes since the last Business Plan presented to Full Council in May 2017.

The Local Plan was also mentioned. Members were informed that the dates of the 
Hearing sessions were as follows and all would be based in the Anglia Room, 
Elizabeth House:

Week 1 – 17, 18, 19 April 2018
Week 2 – 09, 10, 11 May 2018
Week 3 – 15, 16, 17 May 2018
Week 4 – 05, 06, 07 June 2018

All Members were encouraged to attend.

Many questions and concerns were raised relating to KPI’s, timing of delivery and 
communication issues.

Councillor Dimoglou congratulated the Capita Team on their Business Plan.  

Councillor Theresa Hewett was looking forward to the successful implementation of 
a Member Engagement Protocol.  The Director of Planning & Building Control 
reminded Members that Jon Berry, Head of Development Management, was now 
the key Member Liaison Officer who had already been very proactive with 
Members and Parish Councils.

The Portfolio Holder for Growth thanked all the Officers involved and encouraged 
Members to come along to the Local Plan Hearings.   All details could be found on 
the website.

The Capita Business Plan was otherwise noted.

The meeting closed at 11.20 am CHAIRMAN

13



Engagement List – Chairman

12 April – 16 May 2018

Date Event Host

13 April 2018 Chairman’s Civic Dinner Chairman of Forest Heath 

Cllr Ruth Bowman

15 April 2018 Civic Service Mayor of Dereham Town Council

Cllr Hilary Bushell

20 April 2018 St George’s Day Supper Mayor of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk

Cllr Carol Bower

27 April 2018 Chairman’s Challenge Presentation 
Reception

Chairman of Norfolk County Council

Cllr John Ward

29 April 2018 Civic Service & Afternoon Tea Chairman of Breckland Council

4 May 2018 Unchained Melody Event Chairman of North Norfolk Council

Cllr Richard Shepherd

9 May 2018 VIP Awards for Breckland Council Staff Breckland Council

11 May 2018 Norfolk & Norwich Festival 2018

Opening Reception

Norfolk & Norwich Festival

13 May 2018 Civic Service Chairman of South Norfolk Council

Cllr Barry Duffin

15 May 2018 Royal Garden Tea Party H.M. The Queen

14

A
genda Item

 7



Engagement List - Vice-Chairman

12 April – 16 May 2018

Date Event Host

27 April 2018 Civic Reception The Chairman & Lady of South Holland 
District Council 

Cllr Rodney Grocock & Mrs Christine 
Grocock

29 April 2018 Civic Service & Afternoon Tea Chairman of Breckland Council

15 May 2018 Royal Garden Tea Party H.M. The Queen

15



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 1 May 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Phil Adams - Executive Manager People & Public Protection
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Andrew Grimley - Team Leader (Environmental Protection)
Richard Hodgson - Interim Executive Manager Prosperity & 

Development
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Jemma March - Principal Planning Policy Officer*
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)

Action By

38/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2018 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

39/18 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Councillor Cowen.

40/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

The Chairman reminded Members that full Council had made the decision to 
withdraw its customer services support from three of its market towns: 

Public Document Pack

16

Agenda Item 11



Cabinet
1 May 2018

2

Action By

Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton.

It had been agreed that these changes would come into effect from June 
2018, because the way in which customers interacted with Breckland was 
changing and in respect to DWP roll-out of Universal Credit. 

However, since that decision had been made the roll-out for Universal Credit 
at both the Dereham and Thetford offices had been delayed until mid-June 
and mid-September, respectively.

Consideration was therefore being given to whether interim support could be 
provided at the three locations for a period of 12 months, starting from June 
2018 which would be reviewed.  It was important to do everything possible to 
help customers to adjust to the significant changes that Universal Credit 
would bring.

A proposal would be bought forward later in the month which would set out a 
number of options for how the support could be offered, using funding from 
the Community Reserve at a cost of no more that £35,000.  However, the 
main aim was to ensure that customers develop, or have access to, the right 
digital skills to claim and manage their Universal Credit benefit.

All Members were in full support of this.

41/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

42/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Joel, Martin, Matthews and Wilkinson.

43/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

None.

44/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

45/18 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The Executive Member for Place informed Members that DWP had moved 
into the Thetford office, and would be officially opened by the Deputy Leader 
on 2 May 2018.

The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Committee held on 27 March 2018 
were noted.

46/18 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN 

The Executive Member for People and Information presented to Members 
details of a proposed Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to address elevated air 
pollution levels within the town of Swaffham.

17



Cabinet
1 May 2018

3

Action By

Members had asked, at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 19/4/18, 
for a planned timetable which would be shared with Members and this would 
be provided.

The Deputy Leader asked if Norfolk County Council had on their forward 
investment programme future investigation centring on the junction of Station 
Street and Mangate Street.  The Team Leader for Environmental Protection 
replied that when an air quality management area is declared this would be 
taken into account in the strategy at Norfolk County Council.  The Deputy 
Leader added that Breckland had been carrying out what it needed to do 
however, Norfolk County Council should ensure that the action plan would 
form part of their investment programme.

The Executive Member for Governance said the issue should also be raised 
with members of the Environment Development and Transport Committee at 
Norfolk County Council.
 
The Chief Executive added that Norfolk County Council had recently 
undertaken a re-organisation of the Chief Officers and as a result there was 
now a locality lead for the Breckland area; she would also raise the issue with 
them. 

Options
1. Approve the adoption and inclusion of the plan action points for further 

investigation in the draft Air Quality Action Plan.  Delegate authority to 
the Executive Member People and Information to approve the final 
plan as it is developed and consulted in terms of the finer / specific 
details before its submission and approval by the Department of 
Environment, Fisheries and Rural Affairs.

2. Do Nothing.

Reasons
To meet the duty imposed on the Council by Section 83 of the Environment 
Act 1995 to manage air quality and ensure that air quality objectives are met, 
through the declared AQMA and the production of an action plan.

RESOLVED that members approve the draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) 
for Swaffham and authorise delegated powers for the Executive Member 
People and Information to sign off the plan once it has been finalised.

47/18 CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

The Executive Member for People and Information sought approval from 
Members to approve a revised Corporate Enforcement Policy.  Breckland 
Council last adopted a Corporate Enforcement Policy in 2010; the proposed 
policy created a single, joint Corporate Enforcement Policy and bought it into 
line with current requirements.

Options
1. To adopt the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy to guide all 

enforcement activities undertaken by all service areas with a 
regulatory responsibility.

2. Do nothing and retain the previous published Corporate Enforcement 

18



Cabinet
1 May 2018

4

Action By

Policy dated 2010, contrary to current regulatory requirements and 
statutory guidelines.

Reason
To ensure legal compliance and to ensure that enforcement action taken by 
the council is better able to resist a challenge in the courts.

RESOLVED that the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be approved.

48/18 REVISION OF BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (LDS) 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report advising Members 
that following the recent visit of the Planning Inspector, he had asked that the 
plan be updated.

The Planning Policy Team Leader added that the Inspector had asked for 
detail that had not been expected within the strategic timescale.  It was 
agreed that the proposed timetable was extremely tight, and depending on 
further work by the Inspector, it was likely that the timetable would be revised 
yet again.  She went onto say that there was a large amount of work that 
needed to be put forward to the inspector but that only a sound plan would be 
submitted.

The Executive Member for Health asked if there was suitable capacity to 
complete the work as the Local Plan was essential for the Council and the 
residents of the district.  The Executive Director of Commercialisation would 
liaise with the Director of Planning and Building Control to ensure that 
sufficient personnel would be in place to enable delivery on time.

Options

1. Members resolve to approve the eighth revision of the LDS (as at 
appendix A of the report) and be effective from 1 May 2018.

2. Members do not agree to the revised LDS.

Reason
1. Endorsing option 1 will satisfy the Inspector conducting the Local Plan 

examination that the Local Plan meets the legal requirements under 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) S.19 (1) which 
states that Local Development Documents must be prepared in 
accordance with the Local Development Scheme. 

2. Should Members resolve to approve Option 2, there is a risk that the 
Inspector will determine the Breckland Local Plan does not meet the 
legal requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004) and this may raise soundness issues.

RESOLVED that Cabinet approve Option 1 (as set out in paragraph 2.1 of the 
report) and that the Local Development Scheme, which has effect from 1 May 
2018 is published.

49/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 12 June 2018 at 10:00am at 
Attleborough Town Council, Town Hall, Queens Square, Attleborough, 

19



Cabinet
1 May 2018

5

Action By

Norfolk, NR17 2AF were noted.

50/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

51/18 ALTERNATIVE PROPOSAL FOR ELECTRICITY POWER SCHEME IN 
SNETTERTON - PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION 

Consideration was given to a proposed procurement strategy in respect of the 
scheme.  Initial legal advice had been taken, and this was reported to the 
meeting.

RESOLVED that Option 1 as highlighted in the report be approved in 
accordance with the recommendations, subject to receiving detailed legal 
advice.

52/18 SNETTERTON ELECTRICITY POWER UPGRADE PROJECT - PROJECT 
UPDATE AND ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT 

Consideration was given to offers of external grant funding which would 
enable delivery of the scheme.

RESOLVED that Option 1 as highlighted in the report be approved in 
accordance with the recommendations.

53/18 PFI LEISURE CONTRACT SUB-CONTRACTOR 

Consideration was given to a proposal from the current contractor in respect 
of sub-contracting arrangements.

RESOLVED that Option 2, as highlighted in the report be approved in 
accordance with the recommendations.

54/18 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET 

Consideration was given to options and a long term strategy for the property.

RESOLVED that Option 1 be approved in accordance with the 
recommendations and ‘on the basis set out in the report’.

The meeting closed at 10.40 am

CHAIRMAN

20



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 19 April 2018 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr R.G. Kybird

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mrs L.S. Turner
Councillor C. Bowes (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr J. Newton
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

In Attendance
Leanne Neave - Democratic Services Officer
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Margaret Bailey - Senior Accountant Capital and Treasury
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Andrew Grimley - Team Leader (Environmental 

Protection)
Sarah Shipley - Food, Health & Safety Manager

Action By
32/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Vice-Chairman.

33/18 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies had been received from Cllrs Gould, Joel and 
Crawford. Councillor Bowes attended as a substitute. 

34/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Vice-Chairman advised that Item 11 Breckland Bridge 
Business Plan Update would be taken as Item 7.

35/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

36/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.
21

Agenda Item 12



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 April 2018

2

Action By

37/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Clarke and Newton.

38/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for 
the following items of business on the grounds that they involve 
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

39/18 BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE 

Members were informed of the recent success of the partnership 
and approved the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan. 

40/18 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

Housing 

Councillor Turner confirmed the next task and finish group 
meeting was on 23rd April and that Senior Officers from Flagship 
Housing would be attending. 

 (a) Public Works Loan  Board Minutes 19 March 2018  

Councillor Kybird asked Members to note the minutes of the 
meeting held on 19th March.

 (b) Public Works Loans Board Task & Finish Group  

Public Works Loan Board 

Councillor Kybird updated Members regarding the task and 
finish group. He advised the group looked at the circumstances 
in which the Council could borrow and in detail what the 
different terms and different projects could be. However with the 
Council being in the financial position it is and the restrictions 
regarding borrowing to invest out of District, there was no 
current need to borrow and therefore the group could not 
progress. 

41/18 HR POLICY HANDBOOK ADDITIONS - CAREER BREAK 

Deputy Leader, Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen presented the 
report. 

An amendment had been made to the Career Break policy, at the 
request of Overview and Scrutiny. An Officer must been 

22



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 April 2018

3

Action By
employed by Breckland Council for a period of 52 weeks before 
an application for a Career Break can be made. 

42/18 CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Executive Member People and Information Councillor Alison 
Webb presented the report. 

Councillor Clarke commented that the policy as a whole was 
good. He queried if there could be a page on the website that 
assured members of the public the Council was taking action 
regarding enforcement and as an Authority were committed to 
enforcing issues. It would not only advise the public but put 
Members in a better place when dealing with public enquiries. 

The Executive Member People and Information agreed and that 
would be looked at and brought back to Scrutiny. 

Councillor Kybird queried if Planning had been consulted with as 
the policy seemed heavily weighted on Food Safety.

The Executive Member People and Information confirmed all 
departments had had an opportunity to comment and all 
representations had been incorporated.

The Vice-Chairman asked if the policy met statutory requirements 
and the Executive Member People and Information confirmed it 
did.

Sarah 
Shipley 

43/18 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN 

Team Leader Environmental Protection Andrew Grimley, 
presented the report. 

Councillor Kybird mentioned the National detailed plan for tackling 
gas that was published in 2017, he queried why the report made 
no mention of it. He also noted that there had been a reduction in 
emission during the monitoring period but not for Swaffham. 

The Environment Protection Team Leader advised that the 
National plan would be considered and the process was being 
adhered to and statutory guidance was used in the report. The 
next step was for discussions to begin with Norfolk County 
Council. 
He went on to advise that they had been monitoring Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels, there were natural peaks and troughs due to 
varying weather conditions year on year and the levels had 
dropped in recent times, however this may be due to the weather. 
He advised the reduction was in part owing to improved 
technology and the decreasing numbers of more polluting diesel 
engines and that this would therefore also help to reduce pollution 

23



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 April 2018

4

Action By
levels.

Councillor Kybird queried if a survey had been completed on 
domestic heating installations.

The Environmental Protection Team Leader advised the pollution 
levels they were concentrating on were primarily caused by traffic. 
However as part of the plan there was the need to look at other 
sources of pollution including domestic boilers and other sources 
of combustion. He pointed out that other market town indications 
were that pollution was more traffic related.

Councillor Jermy advised that as a member of the Norfolk County 
Council Environment, Development and Transport Committee he 
had seen reports in the past regarding air quality and he believed 
there to be some confusion as to which tier of Local Government 
was ultimately responsible for it. He had noted in the past that 
Swaffham was a larger concern than Norwich City itself.

Members were advised that as a District Council there was a duty 
to assess air quality. As a result an annual report is produced and 
has shown historically that there was high level of poor pollution in 
certain areas of Swaffham. However, until the air quality 
management area was in place, as it was now for Swaffham, 
Norfolk County Council had no legal duty to act. 

Councillor Nairn queried if the wind direction would adversely 
affect the air quality in Swaffham.

The Environmental Protection Team Leader advised the main 
annual measuring used plastic diffusion tubes which were 
replaced monthly. The 12 tubes gave a cumulative value. That 
represented changes in air quality throughout the year. They were 
in the early stages of identifying when vehicles were moving along 
Market Place, what happened when a vehicle went past a tube 
and if the wind direction changed and how the wind direction 
around buildings may contribute. 

Councillor Matthews commented that she felt the whole process 
was very slow moving. 

The Environmental Protection Team Leader advised that there 
was the need to have a development plan following the 
consultation. There were a number of localised steps that could 
be taken. Norfolk County Council had introduced measures to 
look at in their traffic strategy in terms of lighting, traffic lights, car 
parks etc and the team were doing highlighting the issue of air 
quality to them as far as was possible. 

Andrew 
Grimley 

24



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 April 2018

5

Action By

44/18 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Turner promoted the ongoing work of the Silver Social 
project. They had a 3 year rolling plan and it was having a great 
impact on people. She asked members to encourage their 
residents to attend an event.

Councillor R Richmond advised he had attended a patient 
participation group and was happy to report the issue of practices 
in Dereham closing their books had been resolved and patients 
were now being transferred from North Elmham and Swanton 
Morley surgeries back to Dereham where the books had re-
opened. 

45/18 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None. 

46/18 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

47/18 WORK PROGRAMME 

The Vice-Chairman advised the Commission of the items on the 
Work Programme going forward. 

48/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday 31 May at 
2.00pm in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House Dereham were 
noted. 

The meeting closed at 3.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

25



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 9 April 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr F.J. Sharpe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr K.S. Gilbert (Ward 
Representative)

Mr R.G. Kybird (Ward Representative)
Mrs L.H. Monument (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control
Fiona Hunter Senior DM Planner
Natalie Levett Senior Development Management Planner
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner
Mandy Cunnington Technical Support Officer
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 
Action By

35/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

36/18APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Roy Brame and Marion 
Chapman-Allen.  Councillor Mike Nairn (substitute) also sent his apologies.

Councillor Paul Darby was in attendance as substitute.

37/18DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Bowes declared an interest in agenda item 9(e) Griston due to her 
being related to the applicant.  Councillor Bowes did not take part in the 
discussion and abstained from voting on the application.

Councillor Hollis declared an interest in agenda item 9(h) Roudham & Larling.   
Councillor Hollis did not take part in the discussion or vote on the application as 
she knew the applicant.

38/18CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

26

Agenda Item 13



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

39/18REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

1) Agenda item 9 (c) - Dereham 3PL/2017/1281/F - had been deferred from 
the Agenda to allow for further consultation with the Town Council 
regarding land ownership and access arrangements.

2) Agenda item 9 (i) - Swaffham 3PL/2017/1351/F – had been deferred from 
the Agenda at the request of the Applicant. The Local Lead Flood 
Authority was maintaining its objection but was willing to reconsider if 
identified issues were addressed.

40/18URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

NECTON: 63 Hale Road  

Residential development and associated access – amended design to 
3PL/2017/0048/O: Applicant: Mr B J Bell.

The Chairman had agreed to take this urgent item of business.  The report had 
been published on the Supplementary Agenda.  

The Head of Development Management explained the reason for urgency.  The 
applicant had lodged an appeal due to non-determination.  Members were being 
asked to provide a recommendation on what their decision would have been had 
the application been presented to Committee prior to the appeal being made. 

Members agreed with the Officers recommendation of refusal.

41/18LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Alex Chrusciak, the Director of Planning and Building Control provided Members 
with an update on the Local Plan.

Breckland Council’s draft Local Plan, which sets out a vision for growth in the 
District until 2036, would enter its final stages on 17 April 2018 when the 
Examination in Public commenced.  These Hearing sessions would be held at 
Elizabeth House, Dereham and were expected to take place over four weeks 
spread over April, May and June.

The public Hearings would provide the opportunity for the appointed Government 
Inspector, Jonathan Manning, to address issues raised during the pre-submission 
consultation earlier in the year, in order to determine whether the Plan was 
‘sound’ and legally compliant.  Although all organisations and members of the 
public could attend to observe the Hearings, only those who submitted comments 
during the pre-submission period and who have been invited to do so by the 
Inspector, would be allowed to speak during these sessions.

A full schedule on the session, including the topics to be covered, would be 
published on the Council’s website: 
www.breckland.gov.uk/localplanexaminationlibrary.   To facilitate seating 
arrangements, the Council was asking the public who plan to attend to notify the 
Programme Officer (programme.officer@breckland.go.uk) in advance stating 
which session they plan to attend.

If the Plan was found to be sound by the Government Inspector, it was 
anticipated that the Local Plan would be adopted by Breckland Council in Autumn 

27

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/localplanexaminationlibrary
mailto:programme.officer@breckland.go.uk


Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

2018.

The dates of the Hearing sessions based at Elizabeth House were as follows:

Week 1 – 17, 18, 19 April 2018
Week 2 – 09, 10, 11 May 2018
Week 3 – 15, 16, 17 May 2018
Week 4 – 05, 06, 07 June 2018

Referring to the five year land supply, Members were informed that monitoring of 
housebuilding for the past year was currently being undertaken by the Policy and 
Enforcement Team across the District to inform the next 5 year land supply 
statement which was due to be produced in June/July 2018.

42/18DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Noted.

43/18SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) BESTHORPE: Homeleigh, Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0184/HOU  

Two storey side extension: Applicant: Mrs Sonia Foster.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(b) DEREHAM: Land adjacent Osier Farm, Neatherd Moor: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1352/F  

Remove piggery units (pig farm), erect detached dwelling and garage: Applicant: 
Mr G Humphries.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Linda Monument (in 
support)

Applicant: Gary Humphries

28



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(c) DEREHAM: Grange Farm, Etling Green: Reference: 3PL/2017/1281/F  

This application was deferred (see Minute No. 39/18(1) above).

(d) GREAT ELLINGHAM: Land adjacent Manderley, Attleborough Road/Deopham 
Road (Cross Roads): Reference: 3PL/2017/1524/F  

Erection of 3 no 4 bedroom dwellings and garages: Applicant: Mr Adrian Stubbs.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Kevin Cole

Objector: Alan Sayers

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and subject to an additional 
condition to secure details of the outdoor lighting scheme in view of Great 
Ellingham’s “dark sky” status. 

(e) GRISTON: Land adjacent no 5 Manor Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0051/F  

Erection of detached 2 storey dwelling: Applicant: T R Scott Properties.

Councillor Bowes declared that she would not take part in the discussion and 
would abstain from voting as the applicant was a distant relative.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Jon Berry, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for refusal as recommended + 1 
abstention.

(f) HOCKERING: Heath Road: Reference: 3PL/2016/1262/O  

Outline for residential development of up to 12 dwellings: Applicant: Greatbrisk 
Ltd.

Consideration was given to the re-submitted report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

The application had already been approved at the Planning Committee meeting 
29



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

held on 31 July 2017 subject to the agreement of ecology conditions and a S106 
Agreement (the recommendation contained in the Minutes had reflected incorrect 
conditions under the S106 Agreement).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon 
Bambridge

Objector: Richard Hawker on behalf of 
Hockering Parish Council

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as previously 
recommended; subject to:

i. the conditions as listed in the previous original report;

ii. the ecological conditions as agreed by Norfolk County Council 
Ecology Service; 

iii. a S106 Agreement in respect of 40% affordable housing only; and

iv. the Reserved Matters application to be brought back to the Planning 
Committee for consideration. 

(g) QUIDENHAM: Land adjacent Whitehouse, Sandfield Lane, Eccles: 
Reference:,3PL/2017/1497/F  

One new dwelling and garage: Applicant: Mr Peter Miles-Jones.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(h) ROUDHAM/LARLING: Adjacent Woodlands, Watton Road, Larling: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1124/O  

Two detached bungalows with access to Watton Road: Applicant: Mr Simon 
Armes.

Councillor Hollis declared she would not take part in the discussion or vote on the 
application as she knew the applicant.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

30



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Robert Kybird

Applicant’s Agent: Stuart Clancy

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 4 against the Officers recommendation of 
refusal. 

REASON(S):  the development would contribute to the Council’s five year 
land supply, accords with Policy CP14 and would provide a little support to 
the rural economy.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval.

The application be approved subject to the following conditions:

i. a 2 year time period for the commencement of development; 
ii. materials; 

iii. limited ridge heights; 
iv. slab level; 
v. tree protection; 

vi. landscaping; 
vii. the highway works and access; and

viii. delegated authority be given to Officers in conjunction with the 
Chairman of the Planning Committee to agree any further 
conditions.

(i) SWAFFHAM: Swans Nest Site, Land East of Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1351/F  

This application was deferred (see Minute No. 39/18 above).

(j) THETFORD: Development at 115 Bury Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1555/VAR  

Variation of conditions 2, 4, 6A and 11 of application ref: 3PL/2017/0118/VAR: 
Applicant: Miss Claire Thomas.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended.

(k) TITTLESHALL: Land at Field Barn Dairy, Litcham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1623/F  

Erection of one dwelling for occupation by essential agricultural worker: 
Applicant: George Thompson Farm Ltd.

31



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Natalie Levett, Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Richard Thompson

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(l) WATTON: Land off Town Green Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1358/D  

Residential development of 98 dwellings, open space and play areas (revised 
location plan): Applicant: Abel Homes Ltd.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Keith Gilbert

Applicant’s Agent: Tony Abel & Paul LeGrice

Objector: Liz Whitcher (on behalf of the 
Drainage Group)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to a further 
condition to secure details of the layout of the open space.
 

(m) WEETING: New Beeches, from Lynn Road to Angerstein Close: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1433/O  

Erection of single storey dwelling and garage: Applicant: Childerhouse Lodge 
Farms.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter Senior 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

32



Planning Committee
9 April 2018

Action By

44/18APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

45/18APPEALS (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

46/18EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

47/18ENFORCEMENT UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The Head of Development Management presented the report and provided 
Members with a detailed overview of the premises in question.

The conditions that had been breached were highlighted.

An objection received from a nearby resident was read aloud.

The Ward Representative was in attendance to speak on the enforcement issue.

Decision: Members voted unanimously to accept the Officers 
recommendations as listed in the report. 

The meeting closed at 12.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

33



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY

Held on Wednesday, 28 March 2018 at 10.55 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs K. Millbank
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mrs S.M. Matthews

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Josie Hoven - Licensing Officer
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By

1/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2017 were 
agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Stephen 
Askew and Councillor Paul Darby.

3/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

4/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None declared.

5/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None present.

6/18 QUARTERLY TEAM UPDATE REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Chairman pointed out that the reason the last meeting was 

Public Document Pack

34

Agenda Item 14



Committee of the Licensing Authority
28 March 2018

2

Action By

cancelled had been due to the very efficient Licensing Team and 
therefore; there had been no point holding a meeting for a 
meeting’s sake.

Donna Hall, the Licensing & Business Support Manager reminded 
Members that this Committee was all about the Licensing Act and 
the Gambling Act.  It had been a very quiet period for the Team 
and most of the work had been based around taxis.

The Licensing Team was about to publish a draft order on the 
website in relation to the relaxation of licensing laws in respect of 
the Royal Wedding in May.  This would mean that the licensing 
laws would be relaxed during this period and Temporary Event 
Notices (TEN) for those licensed premises wanting to extend their 
opening hours would not be required. Members were asked to 
sign post any enquiries to the Licensing Team.  

Josie Hoven, Licensing Officer explained that the Police sent the 
Team a weekly list on any issues that they may have had with 
regard to licensed premises.

Many questions were asked in relation to when a TEN would be 
required and it was explained that any person holding an event 
that included the sale of alcohol would require a TEN.  Another 
question asked was how wider an area a TEN covered.  In 
response Members were informed that this was more a capacity 
issue; an event covered by a TEN could be attended by no more 
than 499 people at any time and be held for a period of 168 hours 
or less.  The Licensing & Business Support Manager advised that 
the purpose of a TEN was so that the Police and the Licensing 
Team were aware of such events in the area.

7/18 MEMBER TRAINING (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Chairman reminded the Committee of the email sent to all 
Members about the Licensing Training being held on Monday, 30 
April 2018 in the Innovation Centre, Kings Lynn the co-ordinator 
being Mr James Button.

The Licensing & Business Support Manager said that Mr Button 
was well known in the field of taxi licensing.  South Holland District 
Council Members had also been invited and therefore the costs 
could be shared.

Directions to the Innovation Centre would be provided nearer the 
time.

Members were asked to contact the Licensing Team for any 
further training requirements.
 
The Chairman explained that any new Committee Members could 
not sit on the Panel meetings until they had received the 
necessary training.  She looked forward to as many Members 
attending as possible.

35



Committee of the Licensing Authority
28 March 2018

3

Action By

In conclusion it was agreed that the Licensing & Business Support 
Manager would discuss further options on Designated Drinking 
Orders with the Police and an update would be provided at the 
next meeting.  

DH

The meeting closed at 11.25 am

CHAIRMAN

36



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 28 March 2018 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Josie Hoven - Licensing Officer

Action By

24/18MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

a) Taxi Licensing and the Equality Act 2010 (Minute No. 22/17

Members asked if a list had been produced highlighting the vehicles 
that could carry wheelchairs.  Donna Hall, the Licensing & Business 
Support Manager explained that a consultation process had to be 
carried out with the drivers to inform the Council if they had any 
medical exemptions to exclude them from carrying wheelchairs.

An email would be sent to Members when the list had been 
produced.

b) Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 28 March 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

DH

25/18APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Stephen Askew and 
Councillor Paul Darby.

Public Document Pack

37

Agenda Item 15



Licensing Committee
28 March 2018

2

Action By

26/18URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

27/18DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None declared.

28/18NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

None present.

29/18TAXI LICENSING UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Members were provided with a presentation that covered:

 Cross border hiring
 Accessibility; 
 Safeguarding; and
 Convictions and Suitability Policy

Cross Border Hiring

The Licensing & Business Support Manager explained that local authorities 
had very different standards in relation to this matter as there was no set 
policy on cross border hiring.  For example, a customer may make a 
booking and have an operator from another authority pick them up.

Accessibility

This was about wheelchair provision and Government Working Groups 
were currently considering the following recommendations:

• Standardised disability awareness training; 
• Information on how to complain about taxi and PHV services to be 

displayed 
• Licensing authorities conduct an accessibility review at three year 

intervals; 
• Licensing authorities should reconsider rank design.

Safeguarding

Government powers would be enacted to issue statutory guidance on 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults following a series of child 
sexual exploitation cases linked closely to taxi and private hire vehicle 
licensing.  This guidance was still waited; however, safeguarding training 
was already being provided.

Councillor Gilbert asked how quickly taxi drivers would receive this training.  
The Licensing & Business Support Manager explained that training was 
compulsory and if a driver did not attend then the case would be brought to 
a Panel meeting.  It was noted that the next training session was being 
held in May 2018.

38



Licensing Committee
28 March 2018

3

Action By

Convictions and Suitability Policy

• Consultation Feb/ March 2018
• Guidance to use as basis for local policy
• Previous convictions and other information
• Promotes consistency
• Prevents “licence shopping”
• Will feed into Breckland Taxi Policy review 2018

A National Database would be available from April 2018 and Licensing 
Officers would be given access to check whether drivers had any 
convictions/revocations etc.

Councillor Gilbert asked if the Council had lost an appeal to the 
magistrates.  Members were informed that it was quite rare for a decision 
to be overturned.

The Licensing & Business Support Manager wanted Members to engage in 
the forthcoming Policy review once the guidance had been received.  This 
matter would be discussed at a future meeting.

DH

30/18UPDATE ON NEW ANIMAL WELFARE REGULATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 
7) 

The Licensing & Business Support Manager presented the report.

The report advised Members of the draft regulations that would change 
the existing licensing regime for animal establishments.  These new 
regulations were due to be implemented in October 2018.

The Chairman referred to paragraph 1.9.6 of the report and asked if the 
Licensing Team was able to limit the number of breeding bitches at the 
property and how this was monitored.  Members were informed that the 
new legislation mentioned the number of ‘dogs’ on the premises regardless 
of the sex.  This wording was felt to be quite vague.  The Licensing Officer 
explained that the Team relied on the general public to report any concerns 
and the Team regularly visited the ‘Pets for Home’ website.  Pedigree 
puppies were different as they had to be registered with the Kennel Club 
and then licensed by the Council; however, designer dogs did not.  Further 
information on this matter was being investigated.

The Chairman asked if Breckland had or knew of any puppy farms.  
Members were informed that the Team was aware of 2 breeders with a 
large number of dogs on their premises which could prove difficult for the 
owners once the new regulations came into force.

Councillor Bowes asked about the law in respect of keeping wild and 
dangerous animals.  Members were informed that the current legalisation 
would remain.  There was a very long list of animals that fell under this 
category but was mainly about security and keeping them contained.

Councillor Gilbert raised concern about the dog snatching episodes in his 
Ward and asked if the Team had any information on this.  The Licensing & 
Business Support Manager said that this would be a Police matter but if 
any intelligence was received it would be passed onto the Police.

39



Licensing Committee
28 March 2018

4

Action By

The fee structure would have to be re-visited to administer the new 
regulations.

31/18TEAM UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Josie Hoven, the Licensing Officer had been very busy visiting all animal 
breeders and licences had been renewed. 

A new scrap metal merchant had opened new premises on the Yaxham 
Road Industrial Estate in Dereham which was open to the public.  The 
premises had been inspected to ensure that the company was following 
regulations of the Scrap Metal Act.  Since the Act came into force there 
had been less issues to deal with and the majority of sites were very good 
in that respect.

Panel Hearings had been fairly quiet and only one had been held on 7 
March 2018.  This was in relation to a new driver with previous convictions.

The meeting closed at 10.55 am

CHAIRMAN

40



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director for Strategy and Governance  

To: Council – 17 May 2018

Author: Teresa Smith, Democratic Services Team Leader

Subject: Appointment of Committee membership and Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 
2018-2019.

Purpose: To appoint Councillors to Committees and to appoint Chairmen and Vice-
Chairman 2018-2019

Recommendation(s): 
1) That Council appoints for 2018-2019 the Committees and Panels as set out in Appendix A

2) That, where so indicated on the Appendix, Council appoints the Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen 
and Councillors of those Committees and Panels subject to any changes that maybe notified 
by Group Leaders.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In accordance with the constitution, the Council is required to make appointments to the 
following Committees and Panels:

 Planning Committee
 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
 Licensing Committee / Committee of the Licensing Authority
 Governance and Audit Committee
 Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee
 Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeals Committee

1.2 There are also a number of other meetings that are not constitutionally required (but may 
be required for other reasons).  Both constitutional and other committees and panels are 
listed on the Appendix to this report.

2.0 APPOINTMENT TO FORMAL COMMITTEES

2.1 Planning Committee
2.1.1 Constitution: 12 Members, appointed in accordance with political group regulations: 

Conservative 10 seats, UKIP 1 seat, Labour 1 seat.

2.1.2 Plus three named substitutes.

2.2 Overview & Scrutiny Commission
2.2.1 Constitution: 12 Members, appointed in accordance with political group regulations: 

Conservative 10 seats, UKIP 1 seat, Labour 1 seat.

2.2.2 Plus three named substitutes

2.2.3 Executive Members are excluded from appointment to the Commission.

41

Agenda Item 16



2.3 Licensing Committee / Committee of the Licensing Authority
2.3.2 Constitution: 15 Members, appointed in accordance with political group regulations: 

Conservative 12 seats, UKIP 1 seat, Labour 1 seat, Non-Aligned 1 seat.

2.4 Governance and Audit Committee
2.4.1 Constitution: 6 Members, appointed in accordance with political group regulations: 

Conservative 5 seats, Non-aligned 1 seat

2.4.2 Plus two named substitutes

2.4.3 Plus two independent, non-voting co-optee members (appointed by the Committee)

2.4.4. Executive Members are excluded from appointment to the Governance & Audit 
Committee

2.4.5 The Chairman of Governance & Audit cannot be a member of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission (O&SC) and no more than two members may also serve on the O&SC.

2.5 Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Committee
2.5.1 Constitution: 6 Members consisting of 3 Members from Breckland Council and 3 Members 

from South Holland District Council, appointed in accordance with political regulations: 
Conservative 2 seats, Non-Aligned 1 seat

2.6 Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Appeals Committee
2.6.1 Constitution: 8 Members consisting of 4 Members from Breckland Council and 4 Members 

from South Holland District Council, appointed in accordance with political regulations: 
Conservative 3 seats, Non-Aligned 1 seat

2.6.2 No Member of the Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Committee can be a Member of this 
Committee.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The appointments are made in accordance with the Constitution and/or for the effective 
discharge of the Council’s business.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Effective discharge of the Council’s business.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The recommendations are in accordance with the law and the Constitution. 

42



5.1.2 Whilst the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 apply to 
most committees, there are exceptions – including where Council agrees unanimously not 
to apply them.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Teresa Smith, Democratic Services Team Leader 
Telephone Number: 01362 656295
Email: Teresa.smith@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Council appointments to the Committees and Panels 2018-2019 (to 

follow)

43



As at 8 May 2018

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES
2018 / 2019

Committee/Organisation Members

Anglia Revenues & Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee
(Executive Appointments)

Cllr Paul Claussen (Con)

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Substitute) (Con)

Cllr William Nunn (Substitute) (Con)

Governance & Audit Committee 

Constitution: 6 Members
Political Balance Conservative 5 seats 

Non-aligned 1 seat.

Plus one independent, non-voting co-optee

(Cannot include Executive Members)

(The Chairman of G&A cannot be a Member of the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission (O&SC) and no more 
than two Members may also serve on the O&SC)

Cllr Bill Borrett (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Vice-Chair) (Con)

Cllr Paul Hewett (Con)

Cllr Linda Monument (Con)

Cllr Mike Nairn (Con)

Cllr John Newton (UKIP)

VACANCY (Substitute) (Con)

Cllr Richard Duffield (Substitute) (Con)

Cllr Jennifer Hollis (Substitute) (UKIP)

Plus one independent, non-voting co-optee:

Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Committee

Constitution: 6 Members, consisting of 3 Members from 
Breckland Council and 3 Members from South Holland 
District Council plus 3 named substitutes (3 from each 
Council).

Political Balance: Conservative 2 seats, Non-aligned 1 
seat.

(Members cannot also serve on the Joint Appointments & 
Disciplinary Appeals Committee)

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Con)

Cllr William Nunn (Con)

Cllr Mark Taylor (UKIP)

Cllr Paul Claussen (Substitute) (Con) 

Cllr Terry Jermy (Substitute) (other)

Cllr Alison Webb (Substitute) (Con)

Joint Appointment & Disciplinary Appeals 
Committee (tbc)
Constitution: 8 Members, consisting of 4 Members from 
Breckland Council and 4 Members from South Holland 
District Council.

Political Balance: Conservative 3 seats, Non-aligned 1 
seat.

(Members cannot also serve on the Joint Appointments & 
Disciplinary Committee)

Cllr Bill Borrett (Con)

Cllr Phil Cowen (Con)

Cllr Jennifer Hollis (UKIP)

Cllr Mark Robinson (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (Substitute) (other)

Cllr Adrian Stasiak (Substitute) (Con)

44



As at 8 May 2018

Committee/Organisation Members

Licensing Committee/Committee of the Licensing 
Authority

Constitution: 15 Members 
Political Balance: Conservative 12 seats, 

UKIP 1 seat 
Labour 1 seat
Non-aligned 1 seat.

Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Keith Martin (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Steve Askew (Con)

Cllr Claire Bowes (Con)

Cllr Roy Brame (Con)

Cllr Mike Brindle (Lab)

Cllr Paul Darby (Con)

Cllr Richard Duffield (Con)

Cllr Keith Gilbert (Independent)

Cllr Jennifer Hollis (UKIP)

Cllr Shirley Matthews (Con)

Cllr Kate Millbank (Con)

Cllr Linda Monument (Con)

Cllr William Richmond (Con)

Cllr Frank Sharpe (Con)

Local Plan Working Group

(Executive Appointments)

Cllr Gordon Bambridge (Con)

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Con)

Cllr Mark Robinson (Con)

Cllr Alison Webb (Con)

Member Development Panel

Political Balance: N/A

Cllr Ian Sherwood (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Denis Crawford (UKIP)

Cllr Paul Darby (Con)

Cllr Theresa Hewett (Con)

Cllr Terry Jermy (Labour)

Cllr Mike Nairn (Con)

Cllr Mark Robinson (Con)

Cllr Lynda Turner (Con)

Community Governance Sub-Committee

Political Balance: Conservative 5 seats
  Non-aligned 1 seat

Cllr William Smith (Con)

Cllr Elizabeth Gould (Con)

Cllr Theresa Hewett (Con)

Cllr Jennifer Hollis (UKIP)

Cllr Mike Nairn (Con)

Cllr Mark Robinson (Con)

45



As at 8 May 2018

Committee/Organisation Members

Overview & Scrutiny Commission

Constitution: 12 Members, 
Political Balance Conservative 10 seats, 

UKIP 1 seat 
Labour 1 seat.

(Cannot include Executive Members)

(The Chairman of Governance & Audit Committee cannot 
be a Member of the O&SC)

Cllr Elizabeth Gould (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Rhodri Oliver (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Roy Brame (Con)

Cllr Denis Crawford (UKIP)

Cllr Pablo Dimoglou (Con)

Cllr Terry Jermy (Labour)

Cllr Adrian Joel (Con)

Cllr Robert Kybird (Con)

Cllr Shirley Matthews (Con)

Cllr Mike Nairn (Con)

Cllr Robert Richmond (Con)

Cllr Lynda Turner (Con)

Cllr Claire Bowes (Substitute) (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (Substitute) (Labour)

Cllr John Newton (Substitute) (UKIP)

Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Substitute) (Con)

Planning Committee

Constitution: 12 Members 
Political Balance: Conservative 10 seats 

UKIP 1 seat 
Lab 1 seat.

Cllr Nigel Wilkin (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Frank Sharpe (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Claire Bowes (Con)

Cllr Roy Brame (Con)

Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (Labour)

Cllr Philip Duigan (Con)

Cllr Jennifer Hollis (UKIP)

Cllr Adrian Joel (Con)

Cllr Keith Martin (Con)

Cllr William Richmond (Con)

Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Con)

Cllr Mike Brindle (Substitute) (Lab)

Cllr Paul Darby (Substitute) (Con)

 Cllr Mike Nairn (Substitute) (Con)

Cllr Mark Taylor (Substitute) (UKIP)

46



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’ Mahony, Executive Director– Strategy & Governance and 
Monitoring Officer

To: Full Council (Annual Meeting) – 17 May 2018

Author: Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Appointment of Councillors to Outside Bodies 2018-19

Purpose: To make appointments to Outside Bodies 

Recommendation(s)

1. To make appointments to Outside Bodies in accordance with the nominations set out in 
Appendix A of the report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council currently appoints representatives to over 30 organisations.  Appointments 
are made to these outside bodies for various reasons, for instance following an invitation 
by the outside body or to enable the authority to be represented on national forums and 
groups.

1.2 The Council’s Constitution, which sets out how the Council operates, provides that 
appointments to outside bodies will be made at the annual meeting of the Council. 
Appointments may also be made by a committee or an officer with delegated power to 
make the appointment, or by the Cabinet if the appointment relates to an executive 
function.  Should an appointment need to be made or altered during the municipal year, 
this can be done at an ordinary meeting of Full Council.

1.3 All Outside Bodies have been contacted and asked to provide information on any changes 
to their organisation.  We have also asked for additional information in respect of the aims 
and objectives of the body, along with confirmation as to whether the body has insurance 
for professional indemnity, public liability and employer liability, and whether this 
insurance would protect our appointees.  Detailed information of each Outside Body is 
shown in Appendix B.

1.4 Members appointed should be able to attend meetings regularly.

2.0 INSURANCE

2.1 Details are held on public and employers’ liability insurance for each organisation, 
members are asked to note the following:

• Where the Council’s representative is an adviser or observer only, the role does not 
include a decision making function so any risk is minimal; 

• Where the Council’s representative serves in an executive capacity it is suggested 
that the appropriate indemnity insurance should amount to £5,000,000 public liability 
and £5,000,000 employer’s liability, the latter being, in any case, a statutory 
requirement where the organisation concerned is a company;

47

Agenda Item 17



• Where the outside organisation is controlled or influenced by one or more local 
authorities, the individuals serving on the body could look to the authority(ies) for 
indemnity. 

2.2 The law does however now allow the Council to insure its members on outside bodies and 
our corporate insurance does include suitable provisions.

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 That appointments are made to all outside bodies set out in Appendix A with new 
appointments where necessary;

3.2 That Council do not appoint to any outside bodies;

3.3 That Council appoint only to certain outside bodies.

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 To ensure Breckland Council has representation on outside bodies, which are deemed 
appropriate for appointment.  

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 The expected benefits of appointments are that they ensure the Council has representation 
and therefore a voice on appropriate outside bodies throughout the District.  Councillors 
appointed also have the opportunity to update full Council meetings on the work of each 
outside body.  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme;
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more
of these headings, these are identified below.

6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

6.1.1 Councillors are expected to travel to meetings of outside bodies, which can have an impact 
on the individual’s carbon footprint.  There may be an expectation that Councillors print 
copies of paperwork for meetings.  

6.2 Constitution & Legal

6.2.1 Full Council has the authority to appoint, nominate or remove representatives to outside 
bodies. The Cabinet may also make appointments.

6.3 Corporate Priorities

6.3.1  Having representatives appointed to outside bodies ensures that the District is well 
represented at each organisation.  Councillors can, where appropriate, ensure that 
Breckland's priorities are voiced, (the priorities are detailed within the Corporate Plan)

48



  and help to achieve common goals. 

6.4 Financial 

6.4.1 Travel and subsistence allowances are payable in respect of attendance at meetings of all 
outside bodies and budget provision has been made for this.  Details are set out in the 
Scheme of Payments of Members’ Allowances, at Part 6 of the Council’s Constitution.  

6.5 Health & Wellbeing

6.5.1 A number of the outside bodies to which appointments are made have a direct impact on 
the health or wellbeing of individuals.  

6.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.6.1 All outside bodies listed within the Schedule at Appendix A are stakeholders.

6.7 Other

6.7.1 Councillors will be aware that the Council makes provision for Councillors who represent 
the Authority to report to Overview and Scrutiny on an outside body. Councillors who are 
appointed are encouraged to submit reports on matters which have an impact on the 
Council or the Council’s stewardship of the district.  It is not expected that representatives 
will report on all matters discussed at meetings of outside bodies.  

6.7.2 It should be noted, however, that councillors must not disclose information which is 
confidential to the outside body, unless prior consent has been given.  If unsure, councillors 
are asked to check with the outside body before submitting a report to Overview and 
Scrutiny.  

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 Appointments may have an effect on Breckland as a whole district; however, it is not 
considered that the appointment itself would have a significant effect on the District, other 
than to ensure representation of the authority.  

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1 None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Britton, Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656343
Email: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:  No
Exempt Decision:  No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Outside Body - Councillor Appointments 2018-19 (current)
Appendix B Detailed Outside Body Information

49



REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 
2018/2019

Organisation Current Representative(s)

Councillor William Nunn

Councillor Paul Claussen

A47 Alliance

Councillor Philip Cowen

Attleborough Development Partnership
Councillor Tristan Ashby

Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan Committee 
(new) Councillor Adrian Stasiak

Banham Poultry Ltd Community Liaison 
Committee Councillor Keith Martin

Councillor Harry Clarke

Councillor Paul Darby

Councillor Claire Bowes

Breckland Area Museum Committee (Joint 
Committee with Norfolk County Council)

Councillor Robert Kybird

Breckland Older People’s Forum Councillor Lynda Turner

Charles Burrell Museum Trust Councillor Roy Brame

East Harling Internal Drainage Board Councillor Steve Askew

East of England Local Government Association 
(EELGA) Councillor William Nunn

East of England Local Government Association 
– Improvement & Efficiency Panel Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen

Greater Thetford Development Partnership Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen

Councillor Paul DarbyHamond's Educational Charity

Councillor Peter Wilkinson

Councillor Paul ClaussenHealth & Wellbeing Board

Councillor Lynda Turner

Hingham Education Trust Councillor Nigel Wilkin

Iceni Partnership Councillor Paul Darby

Keystone Development Trust Councillor Mark Robinson

50



Organisation Current Representative(s)

Local Government Association - Network 
Assembly

Councillor William Nunn
Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen (sub)

Norfolk Armed Forces Covenant Board Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen
Councillor Paul Claussen (sub

Norfolk Arts Forum Steering Committee Councillor Paul Claussen

Norfolk County Playing Fields Association Councillor John Rogers

Norfolk Countywide Community Safety 
Partnership Scrutiny Sub Panel Councillor Paul Claussen

Norfolk Health Scrutiny Committee Councillor Peter Wilkinson
Councillor Robert Richmond (Substitute)

Norfolk Joint Museums and Archaeology 
Committee

Councillor Harry Clarke
Councillor Paul Darby (sub)

Norfolk Parking Partnership Joint Committee Councillor Paul Claussen

Norfolk Police & Crime Panel Councillor Frank Sharpe
Councillor Mark Robinson (Substitute)

Norfolk Rail Group Councillor Philip Cowen

Norfolk Records Joint Committee Councillor Robert Kybird
Councillor Marion Chapman-Allen (sub)

Norfolk Rivers Internal Drainage Board Councillor Gordon Bambridge
Councillor Bill Borrett
Councillor Linda Monument

Norfolk Waste Partnership Councillor Paul Claussen

Restorative Approaches Strategic Board Councillor Peter Wilkinson

Supporting People Commissioning Body – 
Member Champions Group Councillor Trevor Carter

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Trust Councillor Ian Sherwood

Thetford Grammar School Charity Councillor Roy Brame

51



Organisation Current Representative(s)

Wayland Partnership Councillor Claire Bowes
Councillor Theresa Hewett

Youth Advisory Board Councillor Peter Wilkinson

52



As at 9 May 2018

REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 
2018 / 2019

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Professional 
Indemnity

Public Liability Employer Cover 
Appointee

A47 Alliance The A47 Alliance's ultimate goal is 
full dualling of the A47 with 
appropriate grade separation.

Councillor Phil Cowen

Councillor William Nunn

Councillor Paul Claussen

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Attleborough Development 
Partnership

The Attleborough Development 
Partnership (ADP) has been created 
to influence successful growth in and 
around the town and ensure houses, 
roads, schools, healthcare and other 
resources are available at the right 
time. The body brings together 
representatives from Breckland 
Council, parish and town councils, 
businesses, landowners, funding 
bodies, and health, highways and 
education services. The ADP is 
initially focusing on a planned link 
road and town centre improvements 
to manage traffic.

Councillor Tristan Ashby Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable No

Attleborough Neighbourhood 
Plan Committee (new)

No aims and objectives provided as 
new outside body headed by 
Attleborough Town Council as one of 
its committees.

Councillor Adrian Stasiak Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable No

Banham Poultry Ltd Community 
Liaison Committee

The meetings are designed to 
communicate to local residents, local 
authorities and the Environment 
Agency company updates and 
performance. Minutes are taken at 
the meetings and these are sent out 
to all who attend. 

Councillor Keith Martin £3000 £50000 £25000 Yes

53



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Breckland Area Museums 
Committee (Joint Committee with 
Norfolk County Council)

The purpose of the Committee is to 
advise the Joint Committee on 
museums issues within their area; 
agree and review on a regular basis a 
museums’ strategy for their area; 
develop and agree a yearly action 
plan resourced by the allocated 
budget and any additional funds that 
can be raised and advise on the 
terms of any service level agreement 
with the Norfolk Museums Service 
for the provision of museums 
services within their area.

Councillor Harry Clarke

Councillor Paul Darby

Councillor Robert Kybird

Councillor Claire Bowes

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Breckland Older People’s Forum The aim of our organisation is to 
provide information on issues 
affecting older people to our 
member organisations and the 
public and where necessary provide 
a voice on these issues to statutory 
bodies, including Health and Social 
Care. We are a member of the 
Norfolk Older People's Strategic 
Partnership Group and can raise 
awareness of issues with them if we 
feel they can assist in taking the 
matter further.

Councillor Lynda Turner Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable No

Charles Burrell Museum Trust To conserve the industrial heritage 
of Thetford by operating and running 
a living museum offering educational 
opportunities to the young and 
training volunteers as well as being 
open to the public for the benefit of 
the local economy. 

Councillor Roy Brame Info awaited Info awaited Info awaited Info 
awaited

54



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

East Harling Internal Drainage 
Board

Statutory Authority Councillor Steve Askew £1000000 £5000000 £10000000 Unknown

East of England Local 
Government Association (EELGA)

The East of England LGA is a 
politically-led, cross party 
organisation which works on behalf 
of the 52 local councils in the East of 
England to harness their collective 
strength to shape and serve their 
communities and localities. 

Councillor William Nunn £1000000 £5000000 £10000000 Yes

East of England Local 
Government Association – 
Improvement & Efficiency Panel

To provide support for the 
improvement and efficiency needs 
of member councils in the East of 
England and utilise Regional 
Improvement and Efficiency 
Partnership (RIEP_ Legacy funding 
appropriately. In particular the 
Panel: maintains an overview and 
understanding of the support, 
improvement and efficiency needs 
of the region. Provides strategic 
direction on the improvement and 
efficiency related activities of the 
Association. Ensures that high level 
awareness and understanding of 
regional improvement and efficiency 
priorities is developed and 
maintained, Establishes key regional 
improvement and efficiency 
priorities and allocate funding 
accordingly through the Investment 
Programme and the RIEP Legacy 
funding. 

Councillor Sam Chapman-
Allen

£1000000 £5000000 £100000000 Yes

55



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Greater Thetford Development 
Partnership

To bring together key influential 
voices from the broad collective of 
organisations whose decision making 
can and does affect places, 
communities and as such quality of 
lives for people who currently live in 
the Greater Thetford area and those 
who will do so in the future. 

Councillor Sam Chapman-
Allen

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Hamond’s Educational Charity To provide grants and like financial 
assistance to young persons in the 
BDC area with preference for those 
in Swaffham, and also providing 
financial help to schools in the area. 

Councillor Paul Darby

Councillor Peter Wilkinson

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Health & Wellbeing Board https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-
we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-
performance-and-
partnerships/policies-and-
strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-
council-constitution

Councillor Paul Claussen

Councillor Lynda Turner

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Hingham Education Trust The Hingham Education Trust has 
been in existence since 1910 with 
trustees appointed from NCC, SNC, 
Breckland DC. Hingham TC. Hingham 
PCC and three further local co-opted 
trustees. We provide grants to 
students (from the Old Hingham 
Grammar School catchment area) 
going on to further education.

Councillor Nigel Wilkin Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Iceni Partnership To provide assistance to those 
who are in conditions of financial 
hardship. To relieve 
unemployment for the public 
benefit, in such ways as may be 
thought fit in the "area of 
Benefit", including assistance to 

Councillor Paul Darby £5000000 £5000000 £10000000 Not stated

56

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution


As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

find employment. To provide and 
assist in the provision of facilities 
for recreation and other leisure-
time occupation in the interests of 
social welfare and with the 
objects of improving the 
conditions of life of those persons 
for whom the facilities are 
intended. To advance education 
and training. To improve and 
beautify the town of Swaffham 
and such other places in the "area 
of Benefit" as the Charity may 
decide with a view to improving 
the quality of life of the 
inhabitants of the area, provided 
that in doing so the Charity shall 
not relieve any Local Authority or 
other body of its statutory 
obligations. To provide and to 
assist in the provision, 
maintenance and improvement in 
the "area of Benefit" of housing, 
transport and other services for 
those who have need of them 
provided that in so doing the 
Charity shall not relieve any Local 
Authority or other body of its 
statutory obligations in providing 
such services.
To further such other 
charitable purposes in the 
"area of Benefit" as the 
Charity may decide.

57



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Keystone Development Trust To combat social exclusion – through 
empowering individuals, groups and 
communities. To tackle financial 
exclusion – through support, advice, 
training and job creation. To protect 
the environment – through 
recycling, local procurement and 
saving historic buildings. To generate 
wealth – through property and social 
enterprise development. 

Councillor Mark Robinson Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Local Government Association - 
Network Assembly

Better Lives, Stronger Economies, 
Enhancing Quality of Life, and 
Sustainable Finance and Workforce

Councillor William Nunn

Councillor Sam Chapman-
Allen (sub)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Armed Forces Covenant 
Board

The Norfolk Armed Forces 
Covenant’s priorities are:

 Building communities
 Health and Welfare
 Education, Employment and 

Skills

Councillor Sam Chapman-
Allen

Councillor Paul Claussen 
(sub)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Arts Forum Steering 
Committee

Norfolk Arts Forum (NAF) was 
established in 1984 to raise the 
profile of the arts across the county 
and to act as a forum for artists, 
organisations and groups to 
network, exchange information, 
participate in local and regional 
consultations, and debate topical 
arts-related issues. There is an 
average of 4 meetings per year held 
at the Norfolk Record Office.

Councillor Paul Claussen
Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

58



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Norfolk County Playing Fields 
Association

The function of the Norfolk Playing 
Fields Association is to offer advice, 
guidance and help in the provision of 
facilities for recreation.  In addition, 
the Association will consider 
requests for financial assistance for 
eligible projects – limited funds are 
held for this purpose.

Councillor John Rogers
Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Countywide Community 
Safety Partnership Scrutiny Sub 
Panel 

To scrutinise the actions, decisions 
and priorities of the Norfolk 
Countywide Community Safety 
Crime and Disorder Partnership in 
respect of crime and disorder on 
behalf of the Communities 
Committee. 

Councillor Paul Claussen Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Health Scrutiny 
Committee

NHOSC is a statutory committee 
which considers matters relating to 
the needs, health and health-related 
services of the population of 
Norfolk.  It scrutinises services that 
have an impact on the health of 
Norfolk’s citizens and challenges the 
outcomes of interventions designed 
to support the health of Norfolk 
people.  It receives statutory 
consultation from local health 
service organisations that are 
proposing substantial changes to 
health services in Norfolk.

Councillor Peter Wilkinson

Councillor Robert Richmond 
(sub)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Joint Museums and 
Archaeology Committee

Norfolk Museums Service was 
established in 1974 when the County 
and District Councils in Norfolk 
agreed to delegate their museum 
powers to a Joint Committee to 
manage museums through a county-
wide Museums Service.  The NMAS 

Councillor Harry Clarke

Councillor Paul Darby (sub)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

59



As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Is now regarded as one of the 
leaders in the museum sector and is 
the lead member of the Eastern 
Region Hub (within the Renaissance 
in the Regions Programme), a 
government funded initiative to 
identify regional museum centres of 
excellence.

Norfolk Parking Partnership Joint 
Committee

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-
we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-
performance-and-
partnerships/policies-and-
strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-
council-constitution

Councillor Paul Claussen Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Police & Crime Panel The Norfolk Police and Crime Panel 
has representatives of the 7 local 
authorities in Norfolk, co-opted 
members and independent 
members. The Panel meets at least 
four times a year to scrutinise the 
work of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.

Councillor Frank Sharpe

Councillor Mark Robinson 
(Substitute)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Rail Group The Group shall act as a special 
interest group to support the 
strategic case for improvements to 
rail for the benefit of the county

Councillor Philip Cowen Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Norfolk Records Joint Committee The Norfolk Records Committee is a 
Joint meeting comprising member 
representatives from the County 
Council and the District Councils in 
Norfolk and also co-opted members 
with relevant interests.

Councillor Robert Kybird

Councillor Marion Chapman-
Allen (sub)

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

60

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/corporate/norfolk-county-council-constitution


As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

Norfolk Rivers Internal Drainage 
Board

https://www.wlma.org.uk/norfolk-
idb/norfolk-idb

Councillor Gordon 
Bambridge

Councillor Bill Borrett

Councillor Linda Monument

£2000000 £2000000 £1000000 Yes

Norfolk Waste Partnership The Norfolk Waste partnership 
(NWP) was set up to encourage 
more people to reduce, reuse, 
recycle and compost rubbish.  It 
brings together Norfolk County 
Council and Norfolk’s seven districts.
Waste Management is a top priority 
for Norfolk and it presents a growing 
challenge.  NWP believe that by 
working together they can move 
away from the dependence on 
landfill towards more sustainable 
waste management.

Councillor Paul Claussen Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Restorative Approaches Strategic 
Board

Its long term goal is for people of 
Norfolk to use non-blaming ways to 
resolve conflicts and repair harm 
through the use of restorative 
approaches to build and maintain 
effective relationships, prevent 
potential conflict and create 
restorative communities.

Councillor Peter Wilkinson Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Supporting People 
Commissioning Body – Member 
Champions Group

Objectives - to deliver safe services. 
To deliver the best possible 
experience for patients and staff. To 
deliver the most effective outcomes. 
To deliver a well-led, capable and 
motivated workforce. To be efficient 
and make best use of available 
resources. 

Councillor Trevor Carter Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

61

https://www.wlma.org.uk/norfolk-idb/norfolk-idb
https://www.wlma.org.uk/norfolk-idb/norfolk-idb


As at 9 May 2018

Organisation Purpose of Outside Body Representative(s)
Insurance 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
NHS Trust

www.qehkl.nhs.uk Councillor Ian Sherwood Members of 
NHSLA’s 
liability to 
third parties 
scheme

Members of 
NHSLA’s liability 
to third parties 
scheme

Members of 
NHSLA’s liability 
to third parties 
scheme

Members 
of NHSLA’s 
liability to 
third 
parties 
scheme

Thetford Grammar School Charity Thetford Grammar School is an 
independent co-educational 
establishment, registered with the 
Charity Commission, a member of 
the Society of Heads, ISC and the 
Association of Governing Bodies of 
Independent Schools.  The School is 
administered by the Governors of 
Thetford Grammar School 
Foundation, acting as Trustees on 
behalf of the Charity Commission.

Councillor Roy Brame Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Wayland Partnership The Wayland Partnership is the 
community regeneration partnership 
for the Wayland Area.  The aim is to 
promote the economic, social, 
cultural and environmental well-
being of the Wayland area.

Councillor Claire Bowes

Councillor Theresa Hewett

Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

Youth Advisory Board The Breckland Youth Advisory 
Board’s aim is to promote youth 
engagement in local communities

Councillor Peter Wilkinson Covered by 
BDC

Covered by BDC Covered by BDC Covered by 
BDC

62

http://www.qehkl.nhs.uk/


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony- Executive Director of Strategy & Governance & 
Monitoring Officer

To: Council – 17 May 2018

Author: Rory Ringer – Democratic Services Manager

Subject: Appointment of Independent Person under the Localism Act 2011

Purpose: This report requests that Council approve the appointment of an 
Independent person for standards of conduct issues affecting Council and 
Parish Council Members, in accordance with the requirements of Section 
28(7) of the Localism Act 2011.

 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Bob Davis be appointed as “Independent Person” under Section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011, until the annual Council meeting in May 2019

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, the arrangements adopted by the Council to deal with the 
consideration of Councillor Code of Conduct complaints must include provision of one or 
more Independent Persons:

 They must be consulted by the Council before it makes a finding as to 
whether a Councillor has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct or 
decides on action to be taken in respect of that Councillor (this means on a 
decision to take no action where the investigation finds no evidence of 
breach or, where the investigation finds evidence that there has been a 
breach, on any local resolution of the complaint, or on any finding of breach 
and on any decision on action as a result of that finding);

 They may be consulted by the Council, or complainant, in respect of a 
standards complaint at any stage of the process; and

 They may be consulted by a Councillor or co-opted member of the District 
Council or of a Parish Council against whom a complaint has been made.

1.2 As a result of The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015, Independent Persons now have an additional formal statutory role 
working together as part of a panel in advising the Council prior to any vote on whether to 
dismiss the Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer, 
(‘Protected Officers’). Under these regulations, the advisory panel must contain at least 
two Independent Persons. (At its meeting on 9 July 2015 Breckland Council agreed that 
the two Independent persons should comprise, where possible, one Independent person 
appointed by Breckland Council and One appointed by South Holland Council)

63

Agenda Item 18



1.3 In July 2012, Fiona Anthony was appointed as the Council’s Independent Person; this was 
again reaffirmed by Council in March 2015 through to the Annual Council meeting in May 
2019. Fiona has recently tended her resignation, although she has agreed to continue in 
the role until a replacement is appointed.

1.4 In accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act, an advertisement for the 
Independent Role was published in late February.  10 Candidates submitted formal written 
applications, and a panel consisting of the Council’s Monitoring Officer and the Deputy 
Leader conducted interviews for the position on 30th April and 2nd May. Following this 
process, the panel identified Bob Davis as the most suitable person for the Independent 
person position, a short biography of Bob Davis is attached as Appendix A

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are invited to appoint Bob Davis as the Independent Person until the annual 
Council meeting in 2019.

2.2 The option to “Do Nothing” does not apply in the instance as the position of Independent 
Person is a statutory position which the Council is required to have.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To appoint an ”Independent Person” in line with the requirements of the Localism Act 
2011

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

4.1 Constitution & Legal
4.1.1. To comply with Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 that the Council has in place an 

Independent Person,.

4.2 Financial 
4.2.1 An allowance is paid to the Independent person for any work undertaken. The current 

allowance is £25 per hour

5.0      WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
5.1 All

6.0      ACRONYMS 
6.1 None

Background papers:- None

64



Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Rory Ringer – Democratic Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656232
Email: rory.ringer@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:  No 
Exempt Decision:  No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Biography of Bob Davis

65



BOB DAVIS

Bob has lived in Mattishall since he moved to Norfolk to work for Norwich Union (now 
Aviva) in 2001.  He is married, with two teenage daughters, who attend Northgate 
High School in Dereham.

He spent most of his career in Human Resources, with 18 years in senior 
management roles, including six years as the UK HR Director for the animal feed 
manufacturer BOCM Pauls (now ForFarmers) based near Ipswich.

Prior to his early retirement in 2016, he also worked for the British Medical 
Association advising and representing doctors in Norfolk, Suffolk and 
Cambridgeshire.

His main areas of expertise are:

 resolving complex and sensitive employment issues arising through company 
disciplinary and grievance procedures, and Employment Tribunal claims

 developing and implementing employment contracts and HR policies
 negotiating and consulting with trade unions and employee forums
 handling significant business changes (e.g. company reorganisations, site 

closures, business acquisitions and divestments)

66



APPENDIX 1

1

POLICY 3: SPECIAL LEAVE

Additional leave, with or without pay, may be granted in special circumstances, for a limited 
period of time for example bereavement or other compassionate grounds or for jury service. 
Payment for such leave will be made at the discretion of the line manager and in 
consultation with the HR Department. Employees should always let their line manager know 
if they need to take special leave so that each individual situation can be considered fairly 
and consistently.

As a guide the following can apply;
• Death of immediate family member can be up to a maximum of 7 paid days, which 

includes the funeral day. Maximum amounts are normally given to executors of the 
estate to allow them time to organise the funeral and/or estate, additional time may 
be given where appropriate; this must be discussed with the HR Manager.

Immediate family member includes:
Spouse/Partner
Father/Mother including in-laws and step parents 
Brother/Sister/Step Brother/Sister including in-laws 
Son/Daughter/Step Son/Daughter including in-
laws Grandparents or Grandchildren

In exceptional circumstances, other relatives may be considered but this must be discussed 
with the HR Manager.

Other special leave

• Serious domestic instances – one day’s paid leave will be given in such cases e.g. 
house fire, flood or burglary

• Sporting events – up to 5 days’ paid leave may be granted where an employee is 
participating in a national or international event as a representative of their country.
Additional leave may be taken as annual leave or unpaid leave.

• Jury service – paid leave will be granted to an employee called for Jury Service, unless 
exemption is secured. An allowance for loss of earnings is payable by the court which the 
employee must claim. The court will send the employee a loss of earnings certificate and 
this should be provided to HR who will arrange for the amount of the allowance to be 
deducted from their pay.

• Acting as witness -
(a) In the case of an employee attending as a witness on behalf of the Council,

leave with pay will be granted, on the understanding that witness fees received 
(excluding travel and subsistence expenses) are paid to the Council.

(b) In the case of an employee called by the Court as a witness leave with pay will be 
granted provided the employee applies to the court for loss of earnings which
must be paid back to the Council. Employees should inform their managers as 
soon as they are informed that they are required to attend and should provide 
their manager with a copy of the notification.

(c) In all other cases where the employee is called to attend court as a witness, leave 
without pay will be granted. Employees can claim from the person citing

67

Agenda Item 19



APPENDIX 1

2

them, the relevant amount in respect of loss of earnings.
• Reserve Forces – Employees who are a member of the Reserve or Territorial Army 

should advise their line manager at the earliest opportunity. Up to a maximum of 10 days 
paid leave will be granted in any one leave year. As the RA/TA pay for training, the 
Council will make up the difference in any lost pay. Details of training dates should be 
provided to the line manager.

• Religious Holidays – Any leave required for specific religious holidays may be taken 
through the usual annual leave or flexitime request.

• Fertility treatment – Up to 5 days’ unpaid leave will be granted in any one year for an 
employee to undergo fertility treatment.

• Medical appointments – reasonable time off will be granted to attend medical/dental 
appointments. It is expected that employees will arrange their appointments outside of 
working hours, however, if this is impossible, employees should ensure that their 
appointments are at the beginning or end of the day to minimise disruption to their work.
There is no statutory right for employees to be paid for this leave, however payment may 
be made at the discretion of their line manager, who may request evidence of the 
appointment.

• Any other leave – any leave required not specified in this policy must be discussed with 
the line manager and HR team.

 Career Break - Employees must have 52 weeks or more continuous service before any 
request for a career break can be made.  A career break may be any period of time of 3 
months or more. 

The career break scheme will be open to all employees with the requisite service, 
including part-time employees.  Career Breaks will be unpaid. The granting of a career 
break and the length of the break will be entirely at the organisation's discretion and will 
depend on the needs of the business at the time in question having regard to any other 
issue, use of other special leave. Employees are not permitted to carry out paid work 
during a career break, unless in exceptional circumstances, after having been agreed by 
a Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer.

An employee will normally be ineligible if they are currently:

 subject to disciplinary action, investigation or an active warning
 subject to a performance improvement plan;
 subject to an investigation following a complaint or grievance, the resolution of which 

would be unreasonably delayed due to a career break;
 subject to formal action under the managing attendance procedure;
 subject to a service review, or;
 within 2 years of returning to work following a previous career break

Workers not directly employed by the council are not eligible to apply.

 Stuck not Sick – Employees have access to two emergency days in the leave year where, 
with a genuine reason, they are able to take a leave of absence without prior agreement, 
but with the authorisation of their line manager.  This leave of absence can be covered by 
annual leave, flexitime, through leave without pay or where in the interest of the service 

68



APPENDIX 1

3

by repayment of the time within a two month period. This may cover times of emergency 
such as adverse weather conditions making it difficult to travel to work, or problems 
needing an employee’s attention with little or no notice.  

69



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of:        Phil Adams, Executive Manager People and Public Protection
    Portfolio Holder & Executive Member strategy, governance &                   

                          transformation , Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen

To: Overview & scrutiny board, 19th April 2018
Breckland District Council, 17th May 2018

Author: Susie Richardson, HR Manager 

Subject: Additions to the HR Policy Handbook; 
- Career break

Purpose: This report presents a new policy to the HR Policy Handbook. 

Recommendation(s):

1) That the following policy is approved; 

a) Career break

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 In January 2017, Full Council approved the Employee Handbook which 
contains a number of employee policies.  In line with what was agreed at that 
meeting, two additional policies have been developed and this report seeks 
the approval of those additional policies.

1.3 Each policy outlines legal principles only and any specific details will fall within 
procedures. This is to enable longevity of the policies are sustainable for a 
longer period of time, therefore reducing the review periods and mitigate the 
risk of non-compliance. Where changes to legislation or constitution arise, the 
policies will be amended accordingly. 

1.4 As new policies are adopted, all staff will be communicated with to raise 
awareness of its existence.

70



1.5 The new policy and a key summary of each are below:

Policy Key summary

Career break
Appendix 1 – Policy 3 - Special Leave, 
page 2

The development of a Career Break 
Policy/Procedure has stemmed from a 
request from a long serving staff member 
to take a Career Break.  There is no 
scheme currently available hence the 
preparation of this new policy.

Following this policy being taken to the 
overview and scrutiny board in march 
2018 we have reviewed the eligibility for 
a career break and have amended as 
such.

Previously an employee had to be 
employed for 26 weeks prior to 
requesting a career break but we have 
extended this to 1 years employment 
(inclusive of probation). This is a joint 
procedure with South Holland and both 
councils have amended the eligibility 
criteria. All other aspects of the policy 
remain and any agreement is at the 
request of the Senior Manager to agree 
and sign off.

Career breaks are unpaid and may be 
requested by any employee so long as 
they meet the length of service required.

A benchmarking exercise has been 
carried out with neighbouring authorities.  
Out of the 6 surveyed, 5 of those have 
had Career break schemes in place 
between 6 and 10 years and on average 
have 2 requests per year.   

It is anticipated that the Career Break 
policy would enhance the benefits for 
current and prospective employees and 
enable an effective retention tool.

71



2.0 OPTIONS 

2.1 Do Nothing 

2.2 Approve the new policy as part of the HR Policy Handbook for Breckland 
Council

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

3.1 To mitigate risk and ensure appropriate policies are in place to deal with 
employee related issues in a fair and consistent manner.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 To mitigate risk in the application of policies. 

4.2 To provide transparent, consistent and fair policies across the Council.

4.3 To actively support culture and change in a positive way 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Carbon Footprint/Environmental Issues

5.1.1 None

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Amendments to relevant policies will be made as and where dictated by 
any change to constitutional or legal requirements. 

5.2.3 The Policy Handbook is designed with the intention to reduce the risk of 
litigation against the Council 

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 None

5.4 Corporate Priorities 

5.4.1 The policy proposals are made with the intention of supporting the Councils’ 
corporate priority of providing the right services, at the right time, in the right 
way by ensuring the recruitment of high calibre individuals are in place to 
help deliver the corporate vision. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder

72



5.5.1 None

5.6 Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1 The proposed policies are designed in compliance with Equality and 
Diversity as per the Equality Act 2010.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1.   None

5.8 Health and Well-being

5.8.1 None

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 None 

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1These proposals are made (in part) with the intention of reducing the risk of 
litigation against the Council. These proposals are made with the intention of 
supporting the Councils strategic position by enabling effective policy 
management appropriately within the bounds of the law.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 These proposals are made in order to ensure the best possible infrastructure 
is in place to recruit, select, retain and performance manage employees 
across the Council.

5.11.2 These proposals are made to ensure both staff and management are clear 
on relevant legislation, best practice and risk mitigation.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1  Consultation has taken place with Unison

5.13 Transformation Programme 

5.13.1  These proposals are made to support the Councils Transformation  
programme

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

73



6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no areas within the 
community which will be affected by the recommendation

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None used

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susie Richardson, HR Manager Breckland
Telephone Number: 01362 656844
Email: Susie.richardson@breckland.gov.uk
Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix 1   Policy 12-special leave

74



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Monitoring Officer, Maxine O'Mahony 
 

To: Council – 17 May 2018

(Author: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager for Governance)

Subject: Constitution Variations 

Purpose: To consider variations to the Constitution

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the minor variations made by the Monitoring Officer and listed in paragraph 1.2 of the 
report be endorsed and continue to have effect.

2) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to amend Part 3 Section F1 of the Constitution to 
make it clear that where more than one officer is identified as a proper officer then each 
officer is a proper officer for matters falling within his/her respective jurisdiction.

3) That Part 3, Section F1, paragraph 15 of the Constitution be amended in accordance with 
paragraph 1.3 of this report

4) That the staffing delegations in Part 3, Section F1 of the constitution be amended in 
accordance with paragraph 1.5 of this report

5) That the definition of Planning Applications set out in Part 3, Section F3 of the Constitution be 
amended to include reference to the new form of planning application – application for 
planning permission in principle and technical details

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council’s constitution was approved by full Council at its meeting on 21 January 
2016. Under Article 14, only full Council can make amendments to the Constitution, 
although certain amendments can be made by the Monitoring Officer subject to a 
subsequent report to the Council:

a. A minor variation
b. Removal of inconsistency or ambiguity
c. To put into effect a decision of the Council or one of its committees

MINOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY THE MONITORING OFFICER

1.2 The following minor variations have been made by the Monitoring Officer, and the Council 
is now asked to endorse the same:

 Following the establishment of the new Contracts Team, references in the Contract 
Procedure Rules to the Corporate Improvement Team (who previously had 
responsibility for contract matters) have been deleted and replaced with references 
to the Contracts Team.

75

Agenda Item 20



 Inaccurate cross-references in paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 13 have been 
amended (they now cross-reference the correct Standing Orders 50 and 49 
respectively).

 Inaccurate cross-references in the terms of reference for Council, in Part D of the 
Constitution. This has been amended to refer to the correct Standing Orders – 63, 
64 and 64 respectively.

 Inaccurate cross-reference in Standing Order 49.3 which has been amended to 
read “paragraph 15c of Part F1” rather than ‘paragraph 6c of Part F1'.

OTHER PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

1.3 There is an inconsistency in Chief Officer general powers set out in Part 3, Section F1, 
paragraph 15(c). This paragraph appoints Chief Officers to be the proper officer for 
signing notices and other documents. The paragraph ends “this delegation may not be 
delegated further subject to (e) below”. However, paragraph 15(e) makes it clear that a 
Chief Officer may appoint someone to act in his/her place in his/her absence; or when 
he/she is otherwise not available; or in accordance with any general directions given by 
the Chief Officer. The words quoted in paragraph 15(c) are therefore redundant (and do 
not appear in relation to any other proper officer appointments).  It is therefore 
recommended that the inconsistency is corrected by deleting the words “this delegation 
may not be delegated further subject to (e) below”.

1.4 In order to ensure clarity, it is also recommended that where any proper officer 
appointment refers to more than one officer holding that appointment, it be made clear 
that each of those officers are proper officer for matters falling within their respective 
jurisdictions. It is therefore proposed that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make 
such changes.

1.5 Part 3, Section F of the Constitution contains a number of staffing delegations. Paragraph 
15 delegates to Chief Officers the power to take disciplinary action in respect staff below 
grade 3b. This paragraph should also refer to capability, and it is proposed that the 
delegation be amended accordingly.

1.6 A change in the law, brought about by the Town and Country Planning (Permission in 
Principle) Order 2017, makes provision for a new type of planning application – 
application for permission in principle and associated technical details consent. Part 3 of 
the Constitution delegates to the Director responsible for Planning, authority to determine 
planning applications (except major/significant applications) so long as they are 
considered to be in compliance with overall planning policies and guidance as well as 
Local and Neighbourhood Plans. There is also a mechanism for applications to be 
referred to Committee in relevant circumstances. Paragraph 3(i)(c) of Part 3 of the 
Constitution defines planning applications for this purpose. It is therefore recommended 
that the existing definition be amended to reflect this new form of planning application.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To approve or not approve the variations or to require alternative variations.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To remove anomalies, address minor typographical and numbering issues and to ensure 
the constitution is kept up to date with changes in law.

76



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Regular updates to the Constitution will ensure that it remains fit for purpose.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 Amending the Constitution is a function that is reserved to Council

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers:- The Council’s constitution which is available on the Council’s website

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Mark Stinson, Executive Manager for Governance
Telephone Number: 07899 061277
Email: mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

77



Document is Restricted

78

Agenda Item 23
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

88

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

90

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

99

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

102

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 Chairman's Announcements
	11 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	12 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Minutes

	13 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	14 Committee of the Licensing Authority
	Minutes

	15 Licensing Committee
	Minutes

	16 Appointment of Committees and Other Representatives and Chairmen and Vice Chairmen 2018-2019
	Appendix 1 for Appointment of Committees and Other Representatives and Chairmen and Vice Chairman 2018-2019

	17 Annual Report and appointment to Outside Bodies 2018/19
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	18 Appointment of Independent Person - Standards Arrangements
	Appendix 1 for Appointment of Independent Person - Standards

	19 HR Policy Handbook Additions -Career Break
	HR Policy handbook-career break

	20 Constitution variations
	23 Snetterton Power Scheme - Grant Approvals
	COUNCIL PAPER B 2018 05 01 Snetterton Power V2
	CABINET PAPER Alternative Proposal for Electricity Power Supply Scheme in Snetterton - Procurement Exemption
	CABINET PAPER Appendix 1 - Procurement Strategy - Snetterton Power Project
	CABINET PAPER Appendix 2 - Market Testing Procurement Results


